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Attorneys for Defendant 
CELTIC BANK CORPORATION 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

WESTERN DIVISION 

 
 
BARNABAS CLOTHING, INC., a 
corporation; and ALEXANDER AQUINO, 
an individual; individually and on behalf of 
all others similarly situated, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
KABBAGE, INC., a Delaware corporation; 
CELTIC BANK CORPORATION, a Utah 
corporation, and DOES 1-100, 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 Civil Case No.: 2:18-cv-3414 
 
DECLARATION OF ASHLEY 
SIMONSEN IN SUPPORT OF 
DEFENDANT CELTIC BANK 
CORPORATION’S NOTICE OF 
REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION 
FROM STATE COURT 
 
Initial Compl. filed:  3/22/18 
Initial Compl. served:  4/9/18 
Case removed:  4/24/18 
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I, Ashley Simonsen, declare and state as follows: 

1. I am an associate at the law firm of Covington & Burling LLP.  I am one of 

the attorneys representing defendant Celtic Bank Corporation (“Celtic Bank”) in the 

above-captioned suit.  I have personal knowledge of the matters stated herein and, if 

called upon, could competently testify thereto. 

2. On March 22, 2018, plaintiffs Barnabas Clothing, Inc. and Alexander 

Aquino filed this action in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of 

Los Angeles.  A true and correct copy of the Class Action Complaint (“Complaint”) is 

attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

3. Counsel for Celtic Bank agreed to accept service on behalf of Celtic Bank. 

4. On March 30, 2018, Plaintiffs emailed to counsel for Celtic Bank a copy of 

the CAC, a Summons, a Notice of Case Assignment (for Unlimited Civil Cases), a set of 

Voluntary Efficient Litigation Stipulations, a Civil Case Cover Sheet, and an Alternative 

Dispute Resolution Information Packet, along with a Notice of Acknowledgment of 

Receipt Form.  Celtic Bank signed the Notice and Acknowledgment of Receipt of 

Summons Form on April 9, 2018, at which point service was effective, and returned it to 

counsel for Plaintiffs the same day.  A true and correct copy of the Summons served on 

Celtic Bank is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

5. A true and correct copy of the Notice of Case Assignment for Unlimited 

Civil Cases served on Celtic Bank is attached hereto as Exhibit C.   

6. A true and correct copy of the set of Voluntary Efficient Litigation 

Stipulations served on Celtic Bank is attached hereto as Exhibit D.   

7. A true and correct copy of the Civil Case Cover Sheet served on Celtic Bank 

is attached hereto as Exhibit E.   

8. A true and correct copy of the Alternative Dispute Resolution Information 

Packet served on Celtic Bank is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

9. A true and correct copy of Celtic Bank’s signed Notice and 

Acknowledgment of Receipt Form is attached hereto as Exhibit G. 
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10. In addition, the following document has been entered on the docket in this 

case in the California Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles: Court Order 

Regarding Newly Filed Class Action, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto 

as Exhibit H. 

11. The following document has also been entered on the docket in this case in 

the California Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles: Initial Status Conference 

Order, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit I. 

12. Exhibits A-I constitute all the process, pleadings, and orders served upon 

Celtic Bank in this action. 

13. A true and correct copy of the Delaware Secretary of State’s website 

reflecting the corporate registration of Kabbage, Inc. is attached hereto as Exhibit J. 

14. A true and correct copy of the Georgia Secretary of State’s website 

reflecting the corporate registration of Kabbage, Inc. is attached hereto as Exhibit K. 

15. I have conferred with counsel for co-defendant Kabbage, Inc. (“Kabbage”) 

and am authorized to state that Kabbage consents to the removal of this action. 

16. Besides Celtic Bank and Kabbage, I am not aware of any other defendant 

that has been properly joined or served in this action. 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed 

on April 24, 2018. 

 

 

/s/ Ashley Simonsen  

ASHLEY SIMONSEN 
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Plaintiffs Barnabas Clothing, Inc. and Alexander Aquino (hereinafter referred to 

collectively as “Plaintiffs”) hereby bring this Class Action Complaint against Kabbage, Inc. 

(“Kabbage”) and Celtic Bank Corporation (“Celtic Bank”) and DOES 1 through 100 

(collectively, “Defendants”).  In support, Plaintiffs allege as follows upon personal knowledge as 

to themselves and their own acts and experience and, as to all other matters, upon information 

and belief, including due investigation conducted by their attorneys.   

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiffs—a small, sustainability-focused local clothing business and its owner—

bring this action to put a stop to Defendants’ blatant scheme to evade California’s criminal usury 

laws and collect unlawful debts from business throughout the State of California. 

2. Kabbage aggressively markets, underwrites and services short-term loans to 

struggling small businesses in need of quick capital. These loans often substantially exceed 

California’s maximum legal interest rate. Nonetheless, Kabbage, through the scheme described 

below, lends money at usurious rates throughout the state of California. 

3. In an effort to hide—and ostensibly legalize—its—criminal activities, Kabbage 

entered into a criminal enterprise known as a “rent-a-bank” scheme with Celtic Bank, a foreign 

bank chartered in Utah (a state, unlike California, with no maximum interest rate for commercial 

loans).  The partnership’s purpose is to evade the criminal usury laws of states throughout the 

country, including California. 

4. Under this scheme, Kabbage (which, unlike Celtic Bank is not exempt from 

California’s usury laws) originates, underwrites and funds the loans, and then—in states with 

usury limits on business loans—it enters into sham transactions with Celtic Bank, which acts as 

the lender in name only. Put another way, Celtic Bank rents its charter to Kabbage in exchange 

for a small commission on loans originated and funded by Kabbage but nominally made under 

Celtic’s name. 

5. In actuality, Kabbage provides the advanced capital (the loan amount) and—

contemporaneously with the execution of the loan—enters into a servicing agreement whereby it 

Case 2:18-cv-03414   Document 2-1   Filed 04/24/18   Page 3 of 25   Page ID #:17



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
-3- 

 

services the loan in exchange for a near-total cut of any proceeds from the loan. Celtic Bank 

lends its name to the loan paperwork in order to assist Kabbage in its illegal efforts to avoid 

commercial usury statutes.  And, in exchange for its illegal efforts, Celtic Bank receives a 

commission. Kabbage, for its part, bears the risk of loss and its CEO has admitted as much. 

6. Periodically, Kabbage enters into assignment agreements whereby it obtains the 

loans outright from Celtic Bank, extinguishing Celtic Bank’s purely nominal role in the 

transactions. From there, when Kabbage encounters difficulties collecting, it assigns the loans to 

debt collectors like non-party TBF Financial, LLC (“TBF”),1 who often initiate litigation against 

Kabbage clients to collect the usurious amounts owed. 

7. Upon information and belief, Celtic Bank would never approve the types of loans 

Kabbage originates if it was actually going to bear the risk of loss on the loans made in its name, 

including the loans to Plaintiffs. Kabbage is willing to approve these types of loans only because 

it is making tremendous amounts of money charging these small businesses usurious interest 

rates. 

8. Celtic Bank’s identification as the purported lender in these transactions is 

essential to the scheme because it—unlike Kabbage—is exempt from California’s usury laws by 

virtue of its Utah charter, a state that has no maximum interest rate for commercial loans. 

9. This illegal arrangement is known as a “rent-a-bank” scheme and has been the 

subject of numerous enforcement actions by Attorneys General in different states. 

10. Through this scheme, Kabbage and Celtic have systematically collected usurious 

interest from Californian business since March 2014. 

11. This Court need not accept Plaintiffs’ word for these allegations as those of 

Kabbage’s co-founder and COO, Kathryn Petralia, substantiate these allegations in a very 

compelling fashion.  During a joint webinar presented in partnership with the National 

                                                 
1  This litigation initially arose in the context of a debt-collection lawsuit filed by TBF against 
Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs filed a class action counterclaim, and ultimately settled with TBF before stipulating 
with Defendants herein to dismiss the action and refile their remaining claims in this Court. 
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Federation of Independent Business, Ms. Petralia explicitly acknowledged that Kabbage is the 

true lender in transactions involving Celtic Bank, and also that Kabbage’s loans are usurious: 

“What are the typical rates charged to applicants? We understand that 
it varies, but there is a range of cost.” 

Answer: 

Our average effective APR, if you were to count it as a APR, would be 
in the low thirties, thirty percent. However, APR is often a misleading 
way of calculating the cost of borrowing, because it’s really 
interesting, what you may not realize is if you have a twelve month 
loan that you pay off in two months, your cost, your APR, gets 
multiplied by six because the shorter term your loan, the higher your 
APR because of the way that APR is calculated. 

On average, our customers are paying just under five percent of the 
loan amount, if they hold the loan for thirty days, and they’re paying 
just under thirteen percent of the loan amount if they hold the funds for 
six months. There are a lot of different ways that fees can be calculated 
across multiple providers, so it’s really important that you understand 
all the various fees that could be assessed. Kabbage doesn’t charge 
broker fees, or origination fees, or monthly maintenance fees. Many 
times, those fees are not actually calculated or included in the APR. 

Question 12: 

“Are you a direct lender?” 

Answer: 

The answer is yes. We are not a marketplace lender. We do securitize 
the receivables that are generated, the loans that are generated, 
meaning we have investors in those loans that we make, but Kabbage 
actually takes the risk of loss. All of our loans are made in partnership 
with Celtic Bank, which is a Utah bank regulated by the FDIC. We 
work together with Celtic to manage customer relationships from the 
time they’re originated all the way through the repayment of the loan.2 

12. By design, small businesses who take on these usurious loans are rarely able to 

keep up with the debt repayments obligated by Defendants’ illegal scheme.  When that happens, 
                                                 
2  See The Ins and Outs of Online Lending with Kabbage (Webinar Transcript), Kabbage, 
https://www.kabbage.com/blog/ins-outs-online-lending-kabbage-co-founder-kathryn-petralia-
webinar-transcript/ (last accessed Mar. 10, 2018). 
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Kabbage sells the debt to various debt collectors—such as TBF—who take over and act as the 

collection arm for the criminal enterprise. 

13. As occurred here, the Kabbage-Celtic scheme typically ends with litigation, as 

third-party debt collectors sue borrowers for defaulting on Defendants’ usurious and predatory 

loans.   

THE PARTIES 

14. Plaintiff Alexander Aquino is an individual and resident of the State of 

California. 

15. Plaintiff Barnabas Clothing, Inc. is incorporated under the laws of and 

headquartered in the State of California. 

16. Defendant Kabbage is a limited liability company duly organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of Georgia, with its principal place of business located at 925B 

Peachtree Street NE, Suite 1688, Atlanta, GA 30309. 

17. Defendant Celtic Bank is an industrial bank chartered by the State of Utah and 

existing under the laws of the State of Utah, with its principal place of business located at 268 

South State Street, Suite 300, Salt Lake City, Utah 84111. 

18. Plaintiff does not know the true names or capacities, whether individual, partner, 

or corporate, of the defendants sued herein as DOE defendants, and for that reason, said 

defendants are sued under such fictitious names, and Plaintiff prays for leave to amend this 

complaint when the true names and capacities are known. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and 

based thereon alleges, that each of the said fictitious defendants were responsible in some way 

for the matters alleged herein and proximately caused and/or contributed to Plaintiff and 

members of the general public and putative Class to be subject to the illegal employment 

practices, wrongs, breaches, and injuries complained of herein. 

19. At all times pertinent hereto, each of the said DOE defendants participated in the 

doing of acts hereinafter alleged to have been done by the named Defendants; and furthermore, 

the Defendants, and each of them, were the agents, servants, and employees of each of the other 
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Defendants, as well as the agents of all Defendants, and at all times herein mentioned, were 

acting within the course and scope of said agency and employment. 

20. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that at all times 

pertinent hereto, each of the Defendants named herein was the agent, employee, alter ego, and/or 

joint venture of, or working in concert with, each of the other co-Defendants and was acting 

within the course and scope of such agency, employment, joint venture, or concerted activity. To 

the extent the said acts, conduct, and omissions were perpetrated by certain Defendants, each of 

the remaining Defendants confirmed and ratified said acts, conduct, and omissions of the acting 

Defendants. 

21. At all times pertinent hereto, Defendants, and each of them, were members of, 

and engaged in, a joint venture, partnership and common enterprise, and acting within the course 

and scope of, and in pursuance of, said joint venture, partnership and common enterprise. 

22. At all times pertinent hereto, the various Defendants, and each of them, concurred 

with and contributed to the acts and omissions of each and all of the other Defendants in 

proximately causing the injuries and damages as herein alleged. At all pertinent times, 

Defendants, and each of them, ratified each and every act or omission complained of herein. At 

all pertinent times, the Defendants, and each of them, aided and abetted the acts and omissions 

of each and all of the other Defendants in proximately causing the damages as herein alleged. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

23. This Court has jurisdiction over this Complaint pursuant to Code of Civ. Proc. 

§ 410.10 and the California Constitution.  

24. Defendants Kabbage and Celtic Bank are a subject to the personal jurisdiction of 

this Court under the California Long-Arm Statute, because each of the transactions at issue arose 

from the Defendants’ purposeful transaction of business within California. Defendants Kabbage 

and Celtic Bank are further subject to the personal jurisdiction of this state because each directed 

their tortious conduct within this state. 

25. The acts that caused Plaintiffs’ damages as alleged herein occurred in the County 
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of Los Angeles. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

26. Barnabas Clothing opened in 2010 with its flagship store located at PACIFIC 

CITY - SurfCity USA, 21034 Pacific Coast Hwy - #220C, Huntington Beach, CA 92648. 

27.  Barnabas Clothing operates as a socially conscious retail company that donates 

10% of every sale to Living Room International, which helps people who have been impacted by 

HIV/AIDS in Western Kenya. 

28. Alexander Aquino is the CEO and President of Barnabas Clothing.   

Kabbage “Rents” a Utah Bank to Violate State Usury Laws 

29. Defendants’ rent-a-bank scheme appears to have begun on March 20, 2014 when 

Kabbage entered into a “Program Management Agreement” (“PMA”) with Celtic Bank. 

30. Pursuant to the PMA, Celtic Bank agreed to originate and fund business loans 

through the marketing efforts of Kabbage.   

31. Upon information and belief, Kabbage and Celtic amended their PMA on June 

30, 2015 to eliminate Celtic’s remaining interest in Kabbage Loans once their funding was 

complete. Ultimately, Defendants’ rent-a-bank scheme was designed for one purpose: to allow 

third-party lenders like Kabbage to circumvent state usury laws.  

Kabbage Falsely Advertises and Markets its Loan Program 

32. Kabbage advertises that it offers lines of credit ranging from $2,000 to $150,000 

with six or twelve month terms. Relevant here, Barnabas Clothing’s loans each had a six-month 

term.  

33. Kabbage further advertises that “loans have a monthly fee for every month you 

have a balance.  Every month, you'll pay back 1/6 of the total loan amount (for 6-month loans) 

or 1/12 of the loan amount for (12-month loans) plus a monthly fee.”3   

34. These advertisements are knowingly false. Borrowers do not repay one-sixth of 

the interest each month on a six-month loan. In fact, the loan agreements contain language 

                                                 
3  See Help Center, Kabbage, https://www.kabbage.com/help-center/ 
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directly contradicting their advertising: 

Application of Payments.  Payments received will be applied first to 
billed Late Fees and Returned Payment Fees, then to loans in order of 
posting with the oldest loans first, then the second oldest loan, and so 
on.  With respect to any particular loan, payment will be applied first 
to billed Cost, then to unbilled Cost and finally to principal…4 

35. Kabbage’s loans front load the interest payments with five percent of the loan 

amount charged for each of the first two payments and one percent charged for each of the 

remaining four payments of the six-month loans. 

36. By front-loading the interest, Kabbage ensures that when borrowers take their 

next month’s draw that any payments made on the prior loans likely went entirely to interest.   

37. Kabbage’s COO clearly explained the effect that requiring new loan agreements 

for each new draw has on the APR for the loans: “your APR, gets multiplied by six because the 

shorter term your loan, the higher your APR because of the way that APR is calculated.”5   

38. As intended by Kabbage when it set up its deceptive loan program, Barnabas 

Clothing regularly paid off the loans early in order to get new draws, but this did not save 

Barnabas Clothing money because with each new loan, it was paying the exorbitant front loaded 

interest payments without any money ever going to principal.  

39. By misrepresenting the application and collection of the interest on its loans, 

Kabbage made its already usurious loans even more usurious.   

Kabbage Victimizes Barnabas Clothing using the Rent-a-Bank Scheme 

40. Beginning on September 14, 2015, Barnabas Clothing and Aquino entered into 

the first of five loans. While those loans purported to be from Celtic, Kabbage in fact originated, 

underwrote, funded, and serviced the loans.   
 

 

                                                 
4  See Form 10-K, Ex-10.17, https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1530981/000168316817000148/ 
panther_8ka-ex1017.htm. 
5  Supra note  2. 
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41. Kabbage holds itself out as a marketplace lender, essentially a company that 

brokers  loans between borrowers and other lenders. Despite its best efforts to appear as such, 

however, Kabbage is not a marketplace lender. Rather, it is a direct lender.  

42. To that end, each loan undertaken by Plaintiffs was titled “Kabbage Commercial 

Loan Agreement,” and Kabbage—not Celtic—bore the risk of loss on each. Moreover, in the 

origination, execution, and financing of the loans, Barnabas Clothing at all times dealt 

exclusively with Kabbage. All of Barnabas Clothing’s communications were with representatives 

of Kabbage. Barnabas Clothing had absolutely no dealings of any kind with Celtic Bank on any of 

these loan transactions.  Finally, upon execution of each loan, Kabbage immediately acquired 

servicing rights. 

43. The interest rate for each of the five loans was far in excess of California’s 

maximum legal rate, which is the higher of either ten percent, or five percent plus the prevailing 

rate of the Federal Reserve Bank. 

44. After paying Kabbage thousands of dollars in principal and interest, Barnabas 

Clothing could no longer keep up with the usurious loan payments, at which time Kabbage began 

threatening Barnabas Clothing’s owner. When Barnabas Clothing was unable to make its 

payments, Kabbage implicated the final portion of its unlawful enterprise, by having TBF initiate a 

collection lawsuit against Plaintiffs. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

45. Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 382. 

Plaintiff Barnabas Clothing brings this action on behalf of itself and the following classes and 

subclasses of similarly situated persons: 

California Merchant Class: All persons residing in, headquartered in, or 
with a principal place of business in the State of California who, on or after 
November 3, 2013, entered into a Kabbage Loan Agreement with Celtic Bank 
and paid money pursuant to that Agreement. 

California Merchant 3-Year Subclass: All California Merchant Class 
Members who, on or after November 3, 2014, entered into a Kabbage Loan 
Agreement with Celtic Bank and paid money pursuant to that Agreement. 

Case 2:18-cv-03414   Document 2-1   Filed 04/24/18   Page 10 of 25   Page ID #:24



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
-10- 

 

California Merchant 2-Year Subclass: All California Merchant Class 
Members who, on or after November 3, 2015, entered into a Kabbage Loan 
Agreement with Celtic Bank and paid money pursuant to that Agreement. 

Plaintiff Aquino brings this action on behalf of himself and the following classes of 

similarly situated persons: 

California Principal Class: All citizens of the State of California who were 
designated as Principal on any Kabbage Loan Agreement pursuant to which 
money was paid on or after November 3, 2013. 

California Principal 3-Year Subclass: All California Principal Class 
Members who were designated as Principal on any Kabbage Loan Agreement 
pursuant to which money was paid on or after November 3, 2014. 

California Principal 2-Year Subclass: All California Principal Class 
Members who were designated as Principal on any Kabbage Loan Agreement 
pursuant to which money was paid on or after November 3, 2015. 

 The following people are excluded from the classes and subclasses: (1) any Judge or 

Magistrate presiding over this action and members of their families; (2) Defendants, Defendants’ 

subsidiaries, parents, successors, predecessors, and any entity in which Defendants or their 

parents have a controlling interest along with their current and former employees, officers, and 

directors; (3) persons who properly execute and timely file a request for exclusion from the 

classes or subclasses; (4) persons whose claims in this matter have been finally adjudicated on 

the merits or otherwise waived; (5) Plaintiffs’ and Defendants’ counsel; and (6) the legal 

representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded persons. 

65. Ascertainability: Although Plaintiffs do not yet possess a list of potential class 

members, publicly available information and Defendants’ business records will allow for the 

administratively feasible identification of all class members. 

66. Numerosity: The exact number of members in the classes and subclasses is not 

currently known to Plaintiffs, but individual joinder in this case is impracticable. On information 

and belief, each of the classes and subclasses is likely to number several hundred, if not several 

thousand, members. 
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67. Commonality Questions and Community of Interest: There are many 

questions of law and fact common to the claims of Plaintiffs and the proposed members of the 

classes and subclasses, and those questions predominate over any questions that may only affect 

individual members. Common questions for the classes include but are not limited to the 

following: 

a. Whether the loans at issue are usurious under California law; 

b. Whether the loans at issue are void as contrary to public policy; 

c. Whether Defendants made deceptive, misleading, or false representations 

in connection with the loans;  

d. Whether Plaintiffs, the classes, and the subclasses may recover money or 

property paid to Defendants pursuant to any of the loans; 

e. Whether Defendants’ conduct was willfully or knowingly unlawful. 

68. Typicality: Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the 

classes and subclasses. Plaintiffs sustained damages as a result of Defendants’ uniform wrongful 

conduct during transactions with Plaintiffs, the classes, and the subclasses. 

69. Adequate Representation: Plaintiffs have and will continue to fairly and 

adequately represent and protect the interests of the classes and subclasses, and have retained 

counsel competent and experienced in complex litigation and class actions. Plaintiffs have no 

interests antagonistic to those of the classes or subclasses, and Defendants have no defenses 

unique to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to vigorously prosecuting this 

action on behalf of the members of the classes and subclasses, and they have the resources 

necessary to do so. Neither Plaintiffs nor their counsel have any interest adverse to those of the 

other members of the classes and subclasses. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Usury  
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs, the California Merchant 2-Year Subclass, and the California 

Principal 2-Year Subclass)  

70. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein. 
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71. Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the California 

Merchant 2-Year Subclass, and the California Principal 2-Year Subclass. 

72. Kabbage and Celtic Bank have devised and engaged in a scheme to fund, issue, 

and collect usurious loans through a rent-a-bank scheme. 

73. Barnabas Clothing’s business has taken usurious loans from Defendants Kabbage 

and Celtic Bank, and Alexander Aquino was forced to personally guaranteed these debts.  

74. Defendants are not exempt from California’s usury laws, nor are the transactions 

that are the subject of this action exempt from California’s usury laws. 

75. The interest charged by Defendants in connection with these transactions is in 

excess of the maximum interest rates permitted by California’s criminal threshold for usury 

under Stats. 1919, p. lxxxiii, § 2; and Stats. 1919, p. lxxxiii, § 3 and Article XV, § 1 of the 

California Constitution, (the higher of 10%, or 5% plus the prevailing rate of the Federal 

Reserve Bank). 

76. As set forth above, Defendants willfully intended to enter into the usurious 

transactions.   

77. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ usurious loans, Plaintiffs and all 

members of the Classes have incurred substantial injury to their business as they have been 

forced to pay a usurious amount of interest. 
 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)  
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs, the California Merchant Class,  

and the California Principal Class) 

78. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations of each of the foregoing paragraphs 

as if fully set forth herein. 

79. Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the California 

Merchant Class and the California Principal Class. 
 

/ / / 
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80. Kabbage and Celtic Bank formed an associated-in-fact enterprise for the express 

purpose of carrying out a pattern of racketeering activity that targeted small business owners in 

need of short-term cash. 

81. More specifically, the Defendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) by participating 

in, directly or indirectly, a scheme to charge and collect usurious interest in violation of 

California’s civil and criminal usury laws. 

82. If a business fell behind on its payments, Kabbage would attempt to collect.   

83. If Kabbage’s collection attempt was unsuccessful, the debt would be assigned to 

debt collectors like TBF to make further collection efforts, including commencing legal action in 

courts around the country as necessary. 

84. Defendants’ collection on unlawful loans constitutes a per se violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1962(c).     

85. Defendants each are persons under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3) and § 1962(c) because 

they are individuals or entities capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property.  

86. Defendants formed their criminal enterprise for the common purpose of, among 

other things, originating, funding and collecting on usurious loans to small businesses including 

Barnabas Clothing.  Thus, the associated in fact organization qualifies as an enterprise within the 

meaning of § 1961(4) and § 1962(c). 

87. Defendants’ enterprise exists separate and apart from the criminal activity of each 

individual Defendant. 

88. Defendants’ enterprise is engaged in interstate commerce, as it is comprised of 

corporations located in different states, and has had business dealings with other as well as 

individual borrowers, such as Barnabas Clothing, who operate in states where no Defendant 

resides. 

89. Defendants knowingly and intentionally used their enterprise to fund, issue, and 

collect on loans that they knew charged interest rates far in excess of California’s maximum 

permissible interest rates for commercial loans. 
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90. Defendants are associated with and serve various functions for their enterprise 

with Defendant Kabbage originating, underwriting and funding the illegal loan transactions, 

Celtic Bank providing the use of its charter for a fee absent which the enterprise could not 

operate, and various debt collectors including non-party TBF to collect upon that debt.  

91. As detailed above, the enterprise operated through a pattern of racketeering which 

included, among other things, knowingly committing mail and wire fraud. 

92. Defendants’ use of wires to defraud Barnabas Clothing and other small 

businesses is essential to the success of the enterprise, and includes, but is not limited to, 

exchanging documents necessary for the loans by and between Kabbage, the borrowers and 

Celtic Bank; the disbursement of funds and the payment of monies by and between Kabbage and 

the borrowers; the payment of Celtic Bank’s fee for each transaction; and collecting on the high 

risk loans which the Defendants knew would result in default rates.   

93. The above instances of wire fraud and mail fraud are part of a common scheme to 

defraud not only Barnabas Clothing, but numerous other small businesses in need of short term 

capital. 

94. Defendants knowingly and intentionally used the enterprise to prey upon these 

small businesses and their owners who are required to personally guarantee the illegal loans. 

95. Furthermore, Defendants knew that the debt owed by Barnabas Clothing and all 

members of the Classes was unlawful and that the interest rates charged were at least twice the 

legally enforceable rate. 

96. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), 

Barnabas Clothing and all members of the Classes suffered, and continue to suffer, substantial 

injury to his business and/or property as they were forced to pay usurious amounts of interest 

and has lost, and will continue to lose, customers, profits, goodwill, and business value.                        

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment in their favor against all Defendants, jointly 

and severally, and seek an order from the Court. 

/ / / 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)  
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs, the California Merchant Class,  

and the California Principal Class) 

97. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations of each of the foregoing paragraphs 

as if fully set forth herein. 

98. Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the California 

Merchant Class and the California Principal Class. 

99. Defendants conspired amongst themselves within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(d) to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) by agreeing to conduct and participate in, directly and 

indirectly, the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity 

and unlawful debt collection. 

100. Defendants committed and caused to be committed a series of overt acts in 

furtherance of their conspiracy, including, but not limited to, those acts previously detailed in 

this Complaint. 

101. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(d), Barnabas Clothing and all members of the Classes have suffered, and continue to 

suffer, substantial injury to his business and/or property as they were forced to pay usurious 

amounts of interest and has lost, and will continue to lose, customers, profits, goodwill, and 

business value.  

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of California Business & Profession Code § 17500 
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs, the California Merchant 3-Year Subclass,  

and the California Principal 3-Year Subclass) 

102. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing allegations and allegations set forth below as 

if set forth fully herein.  

103. Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the California 

Merchant 3-Year Subclass and the California Principal 3-Year Subclass. 
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104. Defendants are businesses disseminating advertising in California through their 

website and other forms of social media. 

105. False Advertising Law, Business and Professions Code, § 17500, et seq. (“FAL”) 

prohibits false and misleading statements in advertising. 

106. A violation of the FAL is a misdemeanor, punishable by fine or imprisonment. 

107. Defendants, directly or indirectly as part of a larger criminal conspiracy, 

participated in advertising the Kabbage Loan program in a false and misleading manner which 

included both material misrepresentations and omissions. 

108. The  misrepresentations and omissions included, among other things, stating that: 

(1) the loans were not usurious; (2) businesses would save money and avoid fees by paying the 

loans off early, (3) businesses would not be charged any fees after the loans were paid off; (4) 

businesses would be charged a fixed monthly payment with one-sixth or one-twelfth of that 

monthly payment going to principal depending upon whether it was a six-month or twelve-

month loan; and (5) deceptively disclosing and/or failing to disclose the interest rate. 

109. Kabbage also falsely designated the origin of the loans in its commercial 

advertising and promotion as being loans from Celtic Bank. 

110. Defendants knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, 

that the above statements were untrue or misleading, and/or omitted to state the truth about the 

Kabbage Loan program. 

111. Plaintiffs relied upon and were actually deceived by the misrepresentations that 

Kabbage made for itself and as a part of a larger criminal conspiracy with the other Defendants. 

112. The misrepresentations also are likely to deceive other California small business 

owners. 

113. The Defendants are directly and/or vicariously liable for the harm suffered by the 

Plaintiffs and other California business who were similarly deceived. 
 

/ / / 
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114. As a direct and proximate result of each of these loans, Barnabas Clothing and all 

members of the Classes suffered indivisible injury through loss of goodwill, lost profits, 

reputational harm and devaluation of its business.  

115. As a direct and proximate result of each of these loans, Barnabas Clothing and all 

members of the Classes suffered indivisible injury by having its other business loans being 

called in from legitimate banks, deterioration of its credit profile, and the inability to secure 

financing to obtain needed inventory and pay its vendors. 

116. Alternatively, Barnabas Clothing and all members of the Classes seek to disgorge 

the profits realized by Defendants from the illegal loan transactions. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of California Business & Profession Code §§ 17200, et seq. 
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs, the California Merchant Class,  

and the California Principal Class)  

117. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.  

118. Plaintiffs bring this cause of action individually and on behalf of the California 

Merchant Class and the California Principal Class. 

119. California Business & Profession Code §§ 17200, et seq. (“UCL”) prohibits 

“unfair competition” in the form of any unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice. 

120. Since at least September 2015, Defendants engaged in an unlawful business 

practices as prohibited by the UCL, and as further described in this Complaint: 

a. Violating Cal. Const. Art. XV § 1 by charging interest rates in excess of 
10% or 5% plus the applicable Federal Reserve rate; 

 
b. Violating 18 U.S.C. § 1343 by furthering their scheme to defraud 

Plaintiffs by (i) making and receiving wire transfers, and (ii) using wires 
to transmit fraudulent communications;  

c. Violating 18 U.S.C. § 1692(c) by conducting the Kabbage Enterprise 
through a pattern of racketeering and the collection of an unlawful debt; 
and 

d. Violating Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500. 
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121. Additionally, Defendants engaged in unfair and fraudulent conduct by making 

false and misleading statements when advertising the Kabbage loan program. 

122. Specifically, Kabbage as part of its commercial advertising and promotion 

misrepresented the nature, characteristics and qualities of its loans. 

123. Kabbage’s misrepresentations included, among other things, stating that: (1) the 

loans were not usurious; (2) businesses would save money and avoid fees by paying the loans 

off early, (3) businesses would not be charged any fees after the loans were paid off; (4) 

businesses would be charged a fixed monthly payment with 1/6 or 1/12 of that monthly payment 

going to principal depending upon whether it was a six-month or twelve-month loan; and(5) 

deceptively disclosing and/or failing to disclose the interest rate. 

124. Kabbage also falsely designated the origin of the loans in its commercial 

advertising and promotion as being a loan from Celtic Bank. 

125. Each of these representations was literally false. 

126. Kabbage and Celtic Bank knew that these representations were false at the time 

they were made. 

127. Kabbage’s misrepresentations were material and actually did influence Barnabas 

Clothing’s decision to enter into the loan agreements. 

128. The misrepresentations also are likely to influence the purchasing decisions of all 

members of the Classes. 

129. Defendants knew that Kabbage’s misrepresentations have the tendency to deceive 

small businesses in need of financing and actually deceived Barnabas Clothing. 

130. Defendants knew that Kabbage was placing, its false and misleading advertising 

in interstate commercial both through its website and other forms of social media. 

131. Defendants, directly or indirectly, participated in the false advertisements for 

their collective benefit and as part of a larger criminal conspiracy to harm Plaintiffs and all 

members of the Classes.   
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132. Defendants engaged in these actions to further their business activities, i.e., the 

issuing, and collection of debts. 

133. Defendants’ practices offends California’s established public polices, and are 

immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous and substantially injurious to consumers. 

134. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants violations of the UCL, Barnabas 

Clothing and all members of the Classes suffered, and continue to suffer, substantial injury to his 

business and/or property as they were forced to pay usurious amounts of interest and has lost, 

and will continue to lose, customers, profits, goodwill, and business value. 

PRAYER 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment in their favor against Defendants, jointly 

and severally, and seek an order from the Court: 

a) For an order certifying the proposed Classes and Subclass; 

b) For an order appointing Plaintiffs as Class Representatives; 

c) For an order appointing counsel for Plaintiffs as Class Counsel; 

d) Declaring Defendants’ conduct to be unlawful; 

e) Declaring each of Plaintiffs’ and the relevant Classes’ agreements with 
Celtic Bank as a front for Kabbage to be void and unenforceable; 

f) Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in the false and 
deceptive conduct described above, including entering into or collecting 
on any further usurious loan agreements; 

g) Requiring Defendants to restore Plaintiffs and others any monies that 
were acquired by means of their false and deceptive advertising, with 
interest; 

h) Awarding Plaintiffs compensatory, direct, and consequential damages, 
including prejudgment interest, in an amount to be determined a trial; 

i) Awarding punitive damages and/or treble damages as the Court deems 
appropriate; 

j) Requiring Defendants to pay Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

k) Granting such other and further relief as this Court deem just and proper. 
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 DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs hereby request a trial by jury for all factual matters in this action. 

 
Dated:  March 21, 2018    MARLIN & SALTZMAN, LLP 
 

     By:       
      Adam M. Tamburelli, Esq. 

  Stanley D. Saltzman, Esq. 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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ATTORNEY FOR INamel: 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 

PLAINTIFF: 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

STIPULATION - EARLY ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 

This stipulation is intended to encourage cooperation among the parties at an early stage in 
the litigation and to assist the parties in efficient case resolution. 

The parties agree that: 

1. The parties commit to conduct an initial conference (in-person or via teleconference or via 
videoconference) within 15 days from the date this stipulation is signed, to discuss and consider 
whether there can be agreement on the following: 

a. Are motions to challenge the pleadings necessary? If the issue can be resolved by 
amendment as of right, or if the Court would allow leave to amend, could an amended 
complaint resolve most or all of the issues a demurrer might otherwise raise? If so, the parties 
agree to work through pleading issues so that a demurrer need only raise issues they cannot 
resolve. Is the issue that the defendant seeks to raise amenable to resolution on demurrer, or 
would some other type of motion be preferable? Could a voluntary targeted exchange of 
documents or information by any party cure an uncertainty in the pleadings? 

b. Initial mutual exchanges of documents at the "core" of the litigation. (For example, in an 
employment case, the employment records, personnel file and documents relating to the 
conduct in question could be considered "core." In a personal injury case, an incident or 
police report, medical records, and repair or maintenance records could be considered 
"core."); 

c. Exchange of names and contact information of witnesses; 

d. Any insurance agreement that may be available to satisfy part or all of a judgment, or to 
indemnify or reimburse for payments made to satisfy a judgment; 

e. Exchange of any other information that might be helpful to facilitate understanding, handling, 
or resolution of the case in a manner that preserves objections or privileges by agreement; 

f. Controlling issues of law that, if resolved early, will promote efficiency and economy in other 
phases of the case. Also, when and how such issues can be presented to the Court; 

g. Whether or when the case should be scheduled with a settlement officer, what discovery or 
court ruling on legal issues is reasonably required to make settlement discussions meaningful, 
and whether the parties wish to use a sitting judge or a private mediator or other options as 
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discussed in the "Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Information Package" served with the 
complaint; 

h. Computation of damages, including documents, not privileged or protected from disclosure, on 
which such computation is based; 

i. Whether the case is suitable for the Expedited Jury Trial procedures (see information at 
www.lacourt.org under "Civil' and then under "General Information"). 

2. The time for a defending party to respond to a complaint or cross-complaint will be extended 
to for the complaint, and for the cross-

(INSERT DATE) (INSERT DATE) 

complaint, which is comprised of the 30 days to respond under Government Code§ 68616(b), 
and the 30 days permitted by Code of Civil Procedure section 1054(a), good cause having 
been found by the Civil Supervising Judge due to the case management benefits provided by 
this Stipulation. A copy of the General Order can be found at www.lacourt.org under "Civil' , 
click on "General Information" , then click on "Voluntary Efficient Litigation Stipulations". 

3. The parties will prepare a joint report titled "Joint Status Report Pursuant to Initial Conference 
and Early Organizational Meeting Stipulation, and if desired, a proposed order summarizing 
results of their meet and confer and advising the Court of any way it may assist the parties' 
efficient conduct or resolution of the case. The parties shall attach the Joint Status Report to 
the Case Management Conference statement, and file the documents when the CMC 
statement is due. 

4. References to "days" mean calendar days, unless otherwise noted. If the date for performing 
any act pursuant to this stipulation falls on a Saturday, Sunday or Court holiday, then the time 
for performing that act shall be extended to the next Court day 

The following parties stipulate: 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF) 
Date: 

~ 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 
Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 
Date: 

~ 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 

Date: 

~ 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR 
Date: 

~ 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR 
Date: 

~ 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR 
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TELEPHONE NO.: FAX NO. (Optional): 
E-MAIL ADDRESS (Optional): 

ATTORNEY FOR (Name): 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 

PLAINTIFF: 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

STIPULATION - DISCOVERY RESOLUTION 

This stipulation is intended to provide a fast and informal resolution of discovery issues 
through limited paperwork and an informal conference with the Court to aid in the 
resolution of the issues. 

The parties agree that: 

1. Prior to the discovery cut-off in this action, no discovery motion shall be filed or heard unless 
the moving party first makes a written request for an Informal Discovery Conference pursuant 
to the terms of this stipulation. 

2. At the Informal Discovery Conference the Court will consider the dispute presented by parties 
and determine whether it can be resolved informally. Nothing set forth herein will preclude a 
party from making a record at the conclusion of an Informal Discovery Conference, either 
orally or in writing. 

3. Following a reasonable and good faith attempt at an informal resolution of each issue to be 
presented, a party may request an Informal Discovery Conference pursuant to the following 
procedures: 

a. The party requesting the Informal Discovery Conference will : 

i. File a Request for Informal Discovery Conference with the clerk's office on the 
approved form (copy attached) and deliver a courtesy, conformed copy to the 
assigned department; 

ii. Include a brief summary of the dispute and specify the relief requested; and 

iii. Serve the opposing party pursuant to any authorized or agreed method of service 
that ensures that the opposing party receives the Request for Informal Discovery 
Conference no later than the next court day following the filing. 

b. Any Answer to a Request for Informal Discovery Conference must: 

i. Also be filed on the approved form (copy attached); 

ii. Include a brief summary of why the requested relief should be denied; 
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iii. Be filed within two (2) court days of receipt of the Request; and 

iv. Be served on the opposing party pursuant to any authorized or agreed upon 
method of service that ensures that the opposing party receives the Answer no 
later than the next court day following the filing. 

c. No other pleadings, including but not limited to exhibits, declarations, or attachments, will 
be accepted. 

d. If the Court has not granted or denied the Request for Informal Discovery Conference 
within ten (10) days following the filing of the Request, then it shall be deemed to have 
been denied. If the Court acts on the Request, the parties will be notified whether the 
Request for Informal Discovery Conference has been granted or denied and, if granted, 
the date and time of the Informal Discovery Conference, which must be within twenty (20) 
days of the filing of the Request for Informal Discovery Conference. 

e. If the conference is not held within twenty (20) days of the filing of the Request for 
Informal Discovery Conference, unless extended by agreement of the parties and the 
Court, then the Request for the Informal Discovery Conference shall be deemed to have 
been denied at that time. 

4. If (a) the Court has denied a conference or (b) one of the time deadlines above has expired 
without the Court having acted or (c) the Informal Discovery Conference is concluded without 
resolving the dispute, then a party may file a discovery motion to address unresolved issues. 

5. The parties hereby further agree that the time for making a motion to compel or other 
discovery motion is tolled from the date of filing of the Request for Informal Discovery 
Conference until (a) the request is denied or deemed denied or (b) twenty (20) days after the 
filing of the Request for Informal Discovery Conference, whichever is earlier, unless extended 
by Order of the Court. 

It is the understanding and intent of the parties that this stipulation shall, for each discovery 
dispute to which it applies, constitute a writing memorializing a "specific later date to which 
the propounding [or demanding or requesting] party and the responding party have agreed in 
writing," within the meaning of Code Civil Procedure sections 2030.300(c), 2031 .320(c), and 
2033.290(c). 

6. Nothing herein will preclude any party from applying ex parte for appropriate relief, including 
an order shortening time for a motion to be heard concerning discovery. 

7. Any party may terminate this stipulation by giving twenty-one (21) days notice of intent to 
terminate the stipulation. 

8. References to "days" mean calendar days, unless otherwise noted. If the date for performing 
any act pursuant to this stipulation falls on a Saturday, Sunday or Court holiday, then the time 
for performing that act shall be extended to the next Court day. 

LACIV 036 (new) 
LASC Approved 04/11 
For Optional Use 

STIPULATION - DISCOVERY RESOLUTION 
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The following parties stipulate: 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF) 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR _ _______ _ _ 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR _________ _ 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATIORNEY FOR ___ _ _____ _ 

LACIV 036 (new) 
LASC Approved 04/11 
For Optional Use 
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NAME ANO ADDRESS OF ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY STATE BAR NUMBER Reserved for Clerk's File Stamp 

TELEPHONE NO.: FAX NO. (Optional): 
E-MAIL ADDRESS (Optional): 

ATTORNEY FOR INamel: 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 

PLAINTIFF: 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

STIPULATION AND ORDER - MOTIONS IN LIMINE 

This stipulation is intended to provide fast and informal resolution of evidentiary 
issues through diligent efforts to define and discuss such issues and limit paperwork. 

The parties agree that: 

1 . At least __ days before the final status conference, each party will provide all other 
parties with a list containing a one paragraph explanation of each proposed motion in 
limine. Each one paragraph explanation must identify the substance of a single proposed 
motion in limine and the grounds for the proposed motion. 

2. The parties thereafter will meet and confer, either in person or via teleconference or 
videoconference, concerning all proposed motions in limine. In that meet and confer, the 
parties will determine: 

a. Whether the parties can stipulate to any of the proposed motions. If the parties so 
stipulate, they may file a stipulation and proposed order with the Court. 

b. Whether any of the proposed motions can be briefed and submitted by means of a 
short joint statement of issues. For each motion which can be addressed by a short 
joint statement of issues, a short joint statement of issues must be filed with the Court 
10 days prior to the final status conference. Each side's portion of the short joint 
statement of issues may not exceed three pages. The parties will meet and confer to 
agree on a date and manner for exchanging the parties' respective portions of the 
short joint statement of issues and the process for fil ing the short joint statement of 
issues. 

3. All proposed motions in limine that are not either the subject of a stipulation or briefed via 
a short joint statement of issues will be briefed and filed in accordance with the California 
Rules of Court and the Los Angeles Superior Court Rules. 

LACIV 075 (new) 
LASC Approved 04/11 
For Optional Use 

STIPULATION AND ORDER - MOTIONS IN LIMINE 
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The following parties stipulate: 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF) 
Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 
Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 
Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT) 

Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR--------
Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR--------
Date: 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (ATTORNEY FOR _ ___ ___ _ 

THE COURT SO ORDERS. 

Date: 
JUDICIAL OFFICER 

LACIV 075 (new) 
LASC Approved 04/11 STIPULATION AND ORDER - MOTIONS IN LIMINE Page 2 of 2 
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NAME ANO ADDRESS OF ATTORNEY OR PARTY "NITHOUT AITORNEY: STATE BAR NUMBER Reserved ror Clerk' s Fite St1mp 

TELEPHONE NO.: FAX NO. (Optional): 
E-MAIL ADDRESS (Optional): 

ATIORNEY FOR <Namel: 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 
COURTHOUSE ADDRESS: 

PLAINTIFF: 

DEFENDANT: 

INFORMAL DISCOVERY CONFERENCE CASE NUMBER: 

(pursuant to the Discovery Resolution Stipulation of the parties) 

1. This document relates to: 

D Request for Informal Discovery Conference 
D Answer to Request for Informal Discovery Conference 

2. Deadline for Court to decide on Request: (insert date 10 calendar days following fi ling of 
the Request). 

3. Deadline for Court to hold Informal Discovery Conference: (insert date 20 calendar 
days following filing of the Request). 

4. For a Request for Informal Discovery Conference, briefly describe the nature of the 
discovery dispute, including the facts and legal arguments at issue. For an Answer to 
Request for Informal Discovery Conference, briefly describe why the Court should deny 
the requested discovery, including the facts and legal arguments at issue. 

I 

I __ ·-- -

LACIV 094 (new) 
LASC Approved 04/11 
For Optional Use 

INFORMAL DISCOVERY CONFERENCE 
(pursuant to the Discovery Resolution Stipulation of the parties) 

.. I 
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Delaware.gov  Governor | General Assembly | Courts | Elected Officials | State Agencies

 

Department of State: Division of Corporations
Allowable Characters

HOME  
About Agency  
Secretary's Letter  
Newsroom  
Frequent Questions  
Related Links  
Contact Us  
Office Location  

SERVICES  
Pay Taxes  
File UCC's  
Delaware Laws Online  
Name Reservation  
Entity Search  
Status  
Validate Certificate  
Customer Service Survey  

INFORMATION  
Corporate Forms  
Corporate Fees  
UCC Forms and Fees  
Taxes  
Expedited Services  
Service of Process  
Registered Agents  
GetCorporate Status  
Submitting a Request  
How to Form a New Business Entity  
Certifications, Apostilles & Authentication of Documents

Entity Details

THIS IS NOT A STATEMENT OF GOOD STANDING 

File Number: 4917464 Incorporation Date /
Formation Date:

12/22/2010 
(mm/dd/yyyy)

Entity Name: KABBAGE, INC.

Entity Kind: Corporation Entity Type: General

Residency: Domestic State: DELAWARE

REGISTERED AGENT INFORMATION

Name: CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY

Address: 251 LITTLE FALLS DRIVE

City: WILMINGTON County: New Castle

State: DE Postal Code: 19808

Phone: 302-636-5401

Additional Information is available for a fee. You can retrieve Status for a fee of $10.00 or 
more detailed information including current franchise tax assessment, current filing history 
and more for a fee of $20.00. 
Would you like Status Status,Tax & History Information Submit

Back to Entity Search

For help on a particular field click on the Field Tag to take you to the help area.
site map   |   privacy   |    about this site   |    contact us   |    translate   |    delaware.gov
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BUSINESS SEARCH

GEORGIA 
CORPORATIONS DIVISION

GEORGIA SECRETARY OF STATE  

BRIAN P. KEMP

HOME (/)  

BUSINESS INFORMATION

Business Name: KABBAGE, INC. Control Number: 10089009

Business Type: Foreign Profit Corporation Business Status: Active/Compliance

Business Purpose: NONE  

Principal Office Address: 730 Peachtree Street, Suite 1100,
Atlanta, GA, 30308, USA Date of Formation / Registration Date: 12/22/2010

Jurisdiction: Delaware Last Annual Registration Year: 2018

REGISTERED AGENT INFORMATION

Registered Agent Name: Corporation Service Company

Physical Address: 40 Technology Parkway South, #300, Norcross, GA, 30092, USA

County: Gwinnett

OFFICER INFORMATION

Name Title Business Address

James Douglas CFO 730 Peachtree St NE, Suite 1100, Atlanta, GA, 30308, USA

L. Scott Askins Secretary 730 Peachtree St NE, Suite 1100, Atlanta, GA, 30308, USA

Rob J. Frohwein CEO 730 Peachtree St. NE, Suite 1100, Atlanta, GA, 30308, USA

Back Filing History  Name History  Return to Business Search

Report a Problem?

Office of the Georgia Secretary of State Attn: 2 MLK, Jr. Dr. Suite 313, Floyd West Tower Atlanta, GA 30334-1530, Phone: (404) 656-2817 Toll-free: (844) 753-7825,
WEBSITE: http://www.sos.ga.gov/ 

© 2015 PCC Technology Group. All Rights Reserved. Version 2.1.2
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Kabbage, Inc. Accused of Engaging Celtic Bank in Illegal ‘Rent-a-Bank’ Lending Scheme

https://www.classaction.org/news/kabbage-inc-accused-of-engaging-celtic-bank-in-illegal-rent-a-bank-lending-scheme
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